IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

	CASE NO.	
JOHN RICHA	ARD MAREK,	
Appel:	llant,	
٧.		
STATE OF FI	FLORIDA.	
Appel:	llee.	
-	INITIAL BRIEF OF APPE	LLANT
	ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCU FOR THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICI IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY	TAL CIRCUIT,

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative

MARTIN J. McCLAIN Assistant CCR

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record:

"R" -- Record on Direct Appeal to this Court;

"PC" -- Record on Appeal of Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

At 7:15 a.m. on June 17, 1983, the body of Adele Simmons was discovered in a lifeguard shack on Dania Beach. Later that day John Richard Marek and Raymond Dewayne Wigley were arrested in Daytona Beach Shores. Several hours prior to the discovery of Adele Simmons' body, Mr. Marek and Mr. Wigley had been seen by law enforcement personnel in the vicinity of the lifeguard shack. Subsequently Mr. Marek and Mr. Wigley were charged with Ms. Simmons' murder. The indictment issued on July 6, 1983, charging Mr. Marek with first-degree murder, kidnapping, burglary, sexual battery, and aiding and abetting sexual battery.

At Mr. Marek's trial, the State presented a circumstantial evidence case.

Evidence was presented that Ms. Simmons was last seen alive late on June 16, 1983.

She and her companion, Jean Trach, were having car trouble on the Florida Turnpike.

Ms. Simmons got into a pickup truck with Mr. Marek and his companion in order to seek assistance. Testimony was also presented that Mr. Marek and Mr. Wigley were questioned by a police officer in the early morning hours of June 17th on Dania Beach near the lifeguard shack where Ms. Simmons' body was found.

After lengthy deliberations the jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Marek guilty of first degree murder and kidnapping as charged. The jury found Mr. Marek not guilty of burglary, but guilty of the lesser offense of attempted burglary with an assault. They also found Mr. Marek not guilty of sexual battery and aiding and abetting sexual battery, but guilty of the lesser offenses of battery and aiding and abetting battery.

At the ensuing penalty phase Mr. Marek attempted to present in mitigation a psychological evaluation prepared by Dr. Krieger. However the presiding judge ruled the report was inadmissible. The judge also refused to allow Mr. Marek's counsel to present to the jury the fact that Mr. Wigley had already been tried and convicted of first degree murder but had received a life recommendation.

Defense counsel did call jail personnel to testify as to Mr. Marek's demeanor and behavior while in jail. Mr. Marek's good behavior in jail was not disputed, nor was his sorrow after conviction.

The jury was instructed on four aggravating circumstances. They were: 1) pecuniary gain, 2) previously convicted of a crime of violence, 3) in the course of an attempted burglary, and 4) heinous, atrocious or cruel. The jury returned a death recommendation. The judge imposed a death sentence finding the presence of four aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances.

Mr. Marek appealed to this Court. On June 26, 1986, this Court affirmed his conviction and sentence.

On October 12, 1988, the Governor signed a death warrant in Mr. Marek's case. On October 10, 1988, Mr. Marek filed a timely Rule 3.850 motion challenging his convictions and sentence of death. On October 12, 1988, Mr. Marek filed a timely petition for writ of habeas corpus in this court challenging the affirmance on appeal of his conviction and sentence of death.

An evidentiary hearing was conducted in circuit court on the Rule 3.850 motion commencing November 3, 1988. The hearing concluded late on November 4, 1988. On November 7, 1988, the circuit court judge issued his order denying Rule 3.850 relief. In the order the judge did find error in the sentencing. Specifically the judge found it was improper to have used the kidnapping conviction to establish the presence of the aggravating circumstance — previously convicted of a crime of violence. The judge, however, ruled the error was harmless.

Mr. Marek filed a timely notice of appeal. The State did not file a cross-appeal from the circuit court's finding of error. See Rule 9.140(c)(1)(H) and (c)(2). Following oral arguments on November 8, 1988, this Court stayed Mr. Marek's execution in order to permit briefing of the issues presented in both the appeal from the denial of Rule 3.850 relief and the habeas proceeding.

SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

John Richard Marek was born September 16, 1961, to Margaret and Jesse William Grimm. Margaret and Jesse had been married in 1956. Jesse was a U.S. Army serviceman. Their first child, Mark William Grimm, was born in 1957; their second, J. Michael Grimm in 1959 (T. 79-80, 209-10).

At the time of John's birth, Jesse was a sergeant and stationed in Germany. The pregnancy was Margaret's first difficult one. "[Her] body tried to abort him. [She] had to spend a lot of time in bed." (T. 79). She was taking a considerable amount of medication at the time. She had been overweight for many years and was taking diet pills throughout the pregnancy. She also had a large amount of nerve medication because of high levels of stress. She and Jesse were having a lot of marital problems during the pregnancy, she had discovered Jesse had a girlfriend.

Additionally Margaret was worried about her grandmother's health. She knew her grandmother, to whom she was very close, was seriously ill, although the news of the grandmother's death was kept from her until after John's birth. Margaret was homesick for the states. She also took birth control pills during the pregnancy.

"[A]t that time the army doctors were very liberal with medicine. [She] had a whole shoe box full of medicine of different kinds. [She] took what they prescribed for [her]. [She] remember[ed] taking a lot of pills each day." (T. 80-81, 210).

Following John's birth, Margaret's emotional problems continued. "[She] was the type of mother that cared more for herself and her father and grandmother in the states than she did for the rest of the family." (T. 210). She continued to take a plethora of medication. The shoe box she kept her pills in was filled with birth control pills, darvon, valium, diet pills, and sleeping pills (T. 107-08). When John was eight or nine months old, his older brother, J. Michael who was over two years old, got into the shoe box and fed the medication both to himself and John. When Margaret discovered this she did not know what to do:

I was afraid to tell their daddy and I was afraid not to. So finally I decided well I have to, you know. Even if he hurts me. I've got to tell him, you know, it happened.

Q Were you afraid he would hurt you if you told him?

A Yes. Because, see, I was supposed to be taking care of them and I didn't. So I called him and told him he had to come home. I had something to show him and tell him. And he come home and we took them in the ambulance to Frankfurt. Before we got there they started going into convulsions and by the time we got there, you know, they were more out than conscious. And they had to pump their stomachs. And they said if we hadn't got them when we did they would have died. Especially John would have died because he was littler and Michael had shared more with him than he had took himself.

Bill says that the doctor told us then that <u>John's</u> mind would be affected by it.

(T. 108) (emphasis added).

Jesse vividly recalled the incident:

I'd come in from the field. There wasn't anything around to eat, 8:30. It was during the winter months. It was dark. The children were all in bed. I'd been gone for 14, 15 days. I don't remember now. I was home for about an hour. Margaret was telling me about her mother and her grandmother and her father and this, that and the other and I was arguing. I was quite disciplined about taking care of — Then she informed me that Jay Michael, the second son, had fed the baby, which was John, pills. Vitamin pills. Valium. Birth control. Diet eat pills. Whatever.

I immediately, as soon as she said pills, I immediately went in their room and grabbed them. They were both in convulsions at the time. And rushed them to the dispensary. We were in an outlying area and it was not full medical facilities there. They pumped their stomachs. Both boys the same. You know. Two different areas but both at the same time, for about approximately an hour and then we transported them by ambulance to Frankfurt, Germany, which is a general hospital for the military services in Europe.

I stayed with them until the doctors came out of the emergency room and told me they would live but not to expect anything as far as the babies being able to cope with life. In other words, that he was brain dead. It was hard for them to learn anything. It would be hard for them to do anything and to expect the worse. Especially little John. Jay Michael, from what he had told me, Jay Michael did not take as many as the pills as he had fed John.

(T. 211-12) (emphasis added).

Following this drug overdose there were obvious changes in John's behavior.

Jesse explained the changes he noticed:

John could never sleep. At night he would cry. Walk the floors with him. He cried during the day. As he got older he was suppose to come to the age of where he could do things. He could never do them. He didn't start crawling until he was almost 18 months old. And he was well over two years old before he started to walking. Way over two years old.

His speech was never clear. It was a slurred speech. You had to listen real close. This is as he grew older until he started talking. He could never learn how to ride a tricycle, bicycle, normal like the other children. We'd have to work with him work with him, work with him to be able to get him to do something like this. Catch a ball. Throw a ball. He was even into his first years of school he was never able to do what the other children were doing at three or four years old.

Q Did you think he was retarded?

A Yes. I do. I did. I requested help for him through the military services, through the County social services. Through the school board.

Q Was he different than your other children?

A Yes, he was. Very, very different in every way. The normal playing in the yards and stuff, as children will do, John was never in the group playing. John was always off to the side doing something else or just watching.

(T. 213-14) (emphasis added).

John was labeled retarded. His relationship with his parents suffered as a result. Jesse described Margaret's relationship with John:

Her relationship was like get out of here. Don't talk to me. I can't stand your talking. I can't stand your shrill voice. I can't stand this. I can't do that. Go sit down and shut up more than the other children.

(T. 214).

Jesse blamed Margaret for John's condition. He also questioned whether he had fathered John. "[H]e couldn't accept that he could have a child that was like that."

(T. 92). Jesse treated John differently than the other children.

Mark was the oldest. Michael was the second one but Michael was bigger earlier so they were like twins sizewise and he would set up competition like between them. Mark, you are just a baby. Look here, Michael is doing this; climbing this tree already, you know, and things like that. He didn't do that with John. He was. He was disappointed that John was a special education child and mostly he just did nothing with John. Ignored him.

Q Do you know why or did John know why?

A John would ask me times why Daddy didn't play with him. Why Daddy didn't do anything with him. Why Daddy pushed him away. Yeah. John was aware of the attitudes. Yeah. A special education child or if you have to call him a retarded child is more tuned in on feelings than we are. They feel rejection even if the words are acceptance. And in a way I had rejected him too. I was so hoed in on wanting a girl and disappointed the. He wore pink as a baby because I was determined he was going to be a girl. I love John but I was negectful [sic] of him because of my emotional state at the time.

(T. 85) (emphasis added).

Jesse was frequently not around. His military duties required him to be gone from home for long periods of time. He never spent a full year at home with the family. His trips lasted anywhere from one week to fifteen months. While in Europe he was away from home about ten months out of the year. He frequently had concern that in his absences Margaret was neglecting the children. When he came home he found inadequate food and clothing (T. 216-17).

Margaret felt that Jesse was neglectful of her and the children.

I wanted him to have time for our family but he didn't. I felt he chose the army over us everytime. I was furious with him when he went the second time to Vietnam.

(T. 86).

In 1965, a fourth child was born to Margaret and Jesse. This was a son named Charles (T. 79). Yet the marital strife continued. According to Margaret, Jesse

grew up "with very little sense of worth." "[H]e liked women to tell he was worth something so he was a womanizer." "He had five girlfriends in the length of [the] marriage that [Margaret knew] of and [she did not] know how many more." She was very jealous (T. 84).

Through the emotional strife which ravaged his family, John's problems continued and grew worse.

You never knew how he would react to things because he doesn't react the way I would have or the other boys would have. He saw things as sudden. He didn't understand cause and effect. He just knew he never could have a good time. Things always messed it up and he didn't understand why.

The kids made fun of him. Didn't want to play with him because he had a speech impediment and they couldn't understand except if he didn't want to be understood and they understood every word he said.

I remember one time he was trying to get the minister to understand something and he told him and he told him and the minister wanted to understand so bad and he told him like a dozen times and the minister said tell me one more time and this time I promise I'll understand and John just as plain as you or I said aw, hell, forget it. New words he could say plainer than other words.

- A <u>He always went to special education</u>. He never went to regular school. <u>He had a bladder problem</u>. Clear up to Well, actually when he went into foster care he still occasionally had accidents under stress.
 - Q Was that regularly or was it just once in a while?
- A It wasn't like several times a day but it was frequent. It was almost daily. It was frequent. It was embarrassing to him. He'd say things like me spill water, you know. But he didn't. He didn't fabricate big stories like his brothers would to get out of being in trouble. He generally would say I did it even though he didn't do it. He didn't show much imagination. He showed a lot of love. He was precious when he was little.
- Q You mentioned the word retarded. Did you ever have John tested?
- A Yes, he was evaluated as trainable but not educable.

- Q Was he ever made fun of for being retarded?
- A Oh, yes. Yes. A lot.

(T. 87-88) (emphasis added).

In 1968, Margaret and Jesse terminated their marriage. Margaret kept the children, but Jesse had visitation. John was upset by the breakup. During the visitations with Jesse, John was upset by Jesse's leaving (T. 219).

In 1970, Margaret remarried. Her new husband, Arlis Bagley, was an irresponsible alcoholic. He was "a functional illiterate" (T. 93). Margaret explained:

I mean if he will take a check for a million he will ride it. He hasn't a penny in the bank. I mean he will take the food money, the rent money, the utility money. He will take your last dime if you will loan it. He's going to drink one way or another.

- Q Did that cause any problems for you with four still -- they were still small boys at that time?
- A Yes, yes and they needed a father. And what they got was belittle meant [sic] and not wanting to be bothered. What they got was a hundred times worse than what their father had been but it took me years to see that.
 - Q How would Arlis treat John?
- A John he treated the worse because John was the most forgiving of the four. The other three soon realized you don't try to hug Arlis. You don't try to. You stay away as much as you can from Arlis.

But John always tried again and again and be rejected again and again. He was a very loving child.

- Q How would Arlis reject him, just by not hugging him or?
 - A No, he generally told him to get away, retard.
 - Q He would call him that?
- A Oh, yes. I couldn't get him not to. He would make him go to bed if nothing else. He didn't want to be bothered with any of the children. He didn't want to have to provide for them. And he wanted the use of the support money that [Jesse] give us. But he didn't --

When we were going together I was going to college and he said I could finish college and he would, you know, take care of us. I like John believed him. I wanted to, I think. You know. I had such a need to be loved that I wanted to believe him. I still want to believe him but I finally had to accept the fact that his words don't fit his actions.

(T. 93-94) (emphasis added).

Mark Grimm, John's brother, recalled Arlis as an uncaring alcoholic. He was "mean" and "vulgar" (T. 189). Arlis had merely tolerated the boys. There was neither love nor acceptance (T. 190-91).

During her marriage to Arlis, an incident occurred which caused her to give up her children.

I had had a job washing dishes there in a restaurant but I'd lost it because Arlis came in drunk there. Lost me the job.

His mother and her boy friend had been helping to feed us but then they left and I didn't have anything. So I went to Red Cross and because their father was in the military Red Cross helped us once. Then Arlis got mad that night because the car wouldn't start. And he took a handgun and fired it into the car. The bigger boys had run around to the back of the house but John started to walk between the car and Arlis and scared me to death and of course I went hysterical screaming at John to go round back and tried to get Arlis not to empty the gun into the car.

So I called [Jesse] and told him he's going to have to take the boys; that I couldn't handle the situation. Until I could figure out what to do. They were about to put us out of the house because we hasn't paid the rent. That day they had turned the electricity off. It was going into winter. He had no job.

- Q You were living in?
- A Fort Worth.
- Q Northern Texas?

A Kind of out in the country. I was totally scared to death. I don't know what to do so I called [Jesse]. He said he'd take the three boys but he wouldn't take John.

- Q Did he say why he wouldn't take John?
- A Because John wasn't his.
- O Did he tell John that or did John know that?
- A Arlis told John. John the welfare people came and got John before [Jesse] came for the boys. [Jesse] came to the house and I gave him their clothes and everything and it was supposed to be a temporary thing. But it became a life changing decision. They never were back in my custody ever again. I visited singularly but never as a family. We were never a family again.
- Q How soon after the shooting incidents did child welfare come and get John?
 - A Next day.
 - Q Did he know why they were taking him?
- A I think I explained to him I couldn't take care of him and that as soon as I could he'd come back. I don't remember for sure what I said.
 - Q But he knew that he wasn't going with his father?
 - A Yes.
 - Q And that the other boys were?
 - A Yeah. Yeah.
 - Q And Arlis told him something about that?
 - A Yeah.
 - Q What did Arlis tell him?
- A That his Daddy wouldn't take him. That his Daddy didn't want him because he was retarded.
- Q Do you know whether Arlis ever told him that you didn't want him because he was retarded or that he didn't want him?
- A He had borrowed a bicycle because he wanted one to ride and Arlis had told him that was why I didn't want him; because he stole the bicycle.
 - Q When was that?
- A That day that the welfare took him. The police had brought him home over the bicycle and it was one of the

reasons that they went ahead and child welfare accepted him without any rigamarole because they saw that it was a situation completely out of control.

Arlis was having a drunken fit when the policemen came.

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