IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN RICHARD MAREK,

Appellant,

Vs.

CASE NO. 73,278

Deputy Clark

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Juidicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

DEBORAH GULLER Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (407) 837-5062 Fla. Bar No. 475696

Counsel for Appellee

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

Dr. Wright also testified that the victim was sexually assaulted within twenty-four (24) hours preceding his autopsy which was performed at 11:00 A.M. June 17, 1983. (R. 808-809). Dr. Wright's examination of the victim revealed spermatozoa present in the victim's cervix. (R. 775). Dr. Wright testified that because the sperm had tails they were less than twenty-four (24) hours old. (R. 776). Dr Wright testified that the victim was probably conscious for one (1) minute after the ligature was applied to the neck. (R. 823).

Clearly, these facts support the trial court's finding that the victim's murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. The victim's death was clearly torturous and heinous,

atrocious and cruel. <u>See</u>, <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 595, 597 (Fla. September 29, 1988); <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984); <u>Routly v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983); <u>Smith v.</u> State, 407 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1981).

Marek's motion for collateral relief was found to be without merit and is procedurally barred as this issue was raised collaterally and on direct appeal. Darden, supra, Supra,

The State maintains that Marek is unable to show that but for his counsel's actions the result would have been different. Assuming arguendo that the jury was not properly informed as to the connotations of heinous, atrocious and cruel, surely the trial court was. "In making the determination whether the specified errors resulted in the required prejudice, a court should presume . . . that the judge or jury acted according to law." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984). Subjudice the court's order demonstrates the trial judge's cognition of the finding that a murder was committed in a manner that is deemed heinous, atrocious and cruel. Marek's claim is without merit and the trial court's ruling must be affirmed.

C. IN THE COURSE OF AN ATTEMPTED BURGLARY

Marek was convicted of Murder in the First Degree (R. 1438), Kidnapping (R. 1439), Criminal attempt: Burglary with an Assault (R. 1440) and of Battery, the lesser included offense of Sexual Battery. (R. 1441). One of the trial court's verbal instructions to the jury, at the penalty stage, was that they "can consider the crime for which the defendant is to be

sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of attempted burglary with an assault, as you found."

(R. 1322). Marek herein argues that there was no basis for the jury verdict of criminal attempt: burglary with an assault.

Marek's contention of insufficient evidence to support the verdict of Criminal Attempt: Burglary with an Assault is procedurally barred. It was argued on direct appeal. Initial Brief at 19. This aspect of the claim is therefore without the court's purview as it is procedurally barred, as well as being a diversion without merit.

Marek argues that the trial court erred in finding that the murder was committed while Appellant "was engaged in the commission of attempted burglary with intent to commit a sexual battery". (R. 1472). The State maintains however that because Marek was convicted under Count III of the indictment, the trial court properly considered this aggravating circumstance in sentencing Appellant. The State maintains that there was overwhelming evidence to support this conviction. Clearly the trial court did not err in applying this aggravating circumstance in sentencing Marek.

If Marek is arguing that the phrase "attempted burglary with an assault" is so completely different from "criminal attempt: burglary with an assault", the State disagrees with the contention and posits that such allegation is a smoke screen.

For Example:

It is well settled that a person on parole from a sentence of imprisonment continues to be under sentence of imprisonment for the purposes of

section 921.141(5)(a)
. . . To have been technically accurate, the trial judge should have found that appellant was under sentence of imprisonment, giving in support of the finding the fact of his parole. This minor inaccuracy does not affect the validity of the judge's finding of this aggravating circumstance.

Brown v. State, 473 So.2d 1260, 1266 (Fla. 1985). Sub judice, neither the slight change of language in the trial court's penalty phase instruction, nor in his written pronouncement⁵, which paraphrased the charging document to the extent applicable (R. 1358), invalidates the application of either the capital sentence or the aggravating factor. There is no requirement that the statutory factor in aggravation must mirror the statutory language of the crime for which Marek was convicted.

Marek's application of Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. _____, 108 S.Ct. 1860, 91 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988), is not appropo beyond the quoted dicta that it is the jury's understanding of the charge that is controlling. Applied to the circumstances before the court, it is clear that the jury understood the charge of "attempted burglary with an assault," as they, the week before, found Marek guilty of criminal attempt: burglary with assault. There were no questions regarding the slight rewording.

The allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel due to

The Court's finding was not that Marek committed burglary and the sexual battery with which he was charged, but not convicted of; but rather that during the course of the burglary an assault occurred. It is important to note that although the jury did not find that the burglary was committed with an intent to commit a sexual battery, the jury did find the kidnapping was done with the intent to commit a sexual battery (R. 1338, 1439), as charged (R. 1358).

D. FELONY MURDER AS AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR.

Furthermore, Marek's claim has been repeatedly rejected on its merits by this Court, and the correctness of this determination has been <u>confirmed</u>, not cast in doubt, by

Lowenfield. First, the Florida decisions: in Menendez v. State, supra, the Court found the claim "without merit". Subsequently, in Clark v. State, 443 So.2d 973, 978 n. 2 (Fla. 1983), the court again rejected the claim, and added, "We take this opportunity, however, to make it abundantly clear our view that §921.141, Fla. Stat, does not unconstitutionally mandate the death penalty for felony murder and that it comports fully with the constitutional requirements of equal protection and due process, as well as the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment." In Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172, 178 (Fla. 1985), the Court added, "The legislative determination that a first degree murder that occurs in the course of another dangerous felony is an aggravated capital felony is reasonable". Most recently, in Swafford v. State, 13 F.L.W. 595, 598 (Fla. Sept. 29, 1988), the Court again stated, "we have held that the engaged-in-felony aggravating circumstance can be found even where the conviction rests on the felony murder rule."

Pursuant to these controlling authorities, it is clear that if Marek's conviction rested on felony murder (the prosecutor argued that both premeditation and felony murder existed (R. 1129-1133)), this fact did not preclude consideration of felony murder in the second phase as an aggravating circumstance. As explained by the District Court's opinion in Blanco v. Dugger, No. 87-6685-Civ-HASTINGS (July 12, 1988) (slip op. 19-21). The case of Sumner v. Shuman, ____ U.S. ____, 107 S.Ct. 2716, 97 L.Ed.2d 56 (1987), further shows Marek's claim to be without merit.

One final note: on direct appeal, this Court upheld the trial court's finding of 4 aggravating and 0 mitigating circumstances. Marek v. State, 492 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1986).

Additionally, the court found the record "replete with evidence which justifies the conclusion that Appellant committed premeditated murder." Marek, supra at 1057. Thus, it is clear that Marek's death sentence does not "rest" only on the felonymurder aggravating factor and further, that the guilty verdict is supported by ample evidence of premeditation. These facts clearly show Marek is not entitled to relief.

The Circuit Court's denial of Marek's 3.850 motion holds one of the four factors to be invalid.

ISSUE III

MAREK'S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS HAVE NOT BEEN VIOLATED BY A FINDING THAT MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES DID NOT EXIST.

The trial court did determine, pursuant to <u>Lamb v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 530 (Fla. September 1, 1988) and <u>Perry v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1988), that the factor in aggravation regarding prior violent felony was erroneous.

However, MAREK'S sentence of death is still valid where the remaining three aggravating factors were proven beyond a reasonable doubt and upheld on direct appeal and where there were and are no mitigating circumstances applicable to Marek. Jackson v. State, 502 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1986).

Order Denying Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, p. 6, November 7, 1988.

Marek's first contention of an erroneous finding of no mitigating factors is that he was a good prisoner. However, this alleged factor in mitigation is based on one prison guard's non-exclusive observation of Marek, specifically for a four day period. (R. 1073, 1280, 1298). Marek is attempting to mitigate his sentence by showing non-negative behavior; he is not demonstrating anything positive, just non-negative. (R. 1297-99). The jury considered this factor of alleged remorse, but appropriately determined it to be without merit, as did the trial court. The Court in Harmon v. State, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988) does not define what a model prisoner is: The Court states only that such finding is not, in and of itself, sufficient for a life sentence recommendation over capital punishment. Harmon at 189.

Marek argues that his age--21 at the time of the murder--

should have been a factor considered in mitigation of his sentence. The trial court found otherwise and should be upheld. (R. 1474). See Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985); see also Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984). Appellant has not linked his age to another characteristic of himself or the crime. Accordingly, the trial court properly rejected this factor as a mitigator and that ruling should be upheld.

As to Marek's contention that his intoxication should have been considered in mitigation, as to incapacity and emotional and/or mental disturbance, the trial court determined the consequences of said intoxication did not warrant the application of a mitigating circumstance. (R. 1473). See Koon v. State, 513 So.2d 1253, 1257 (Fla. 1987).

Marek complains that the trial court erred by not instructing the jury during the sentencing phase of the proceedings that Wigley had been sentenced to life in prison. The State would point out that if Marek's jury had been instructed that the jury in Wigley's case recommended life, they undoubtedly would have been confused since they could not be aware of the evidence, confession and mitigating circumstances present in that case.

Marek was not precluded from arguing his alleged lack of a significant history of prior criminal activity. It was his decision given that his prior conviction for credit card fraud would be brought before the jury in contradiction of this circumstance. Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185, 189 (Fla.

1983). Clearly the precedent exists which invalidates not only Marek's claim as to trial court error in not giving this circumstance in mitigation, but also Marek's claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. The trial court properly limited, but did not exclude, the mitigating circumstance of no significant history of prior criminal activity.

The trial court correctly sentenced Marek to death. There were no mitigating circumstances applicable to Marek. (R. 1473-1474). Even if the trial court improperly considered one aggravating factors or committed any other error in sentencing Marek, such is harmless in view of the fact there were no mitigating factors and there were present three aggravating factors which are listed in the statute. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981); Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977).

The State would also point out that a proportionality review of this case will reveal that the death penalty was appropriate herein. The State maintains that in similar heinous killings by strangulation, this Court has determined a sentence of death to be proper. Adams, supra; Alvord, supra; Peek v. State, 395 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1980); Lemon v. State, 456 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1984).

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT CONSIDERED ONLY THE STATUTORILY ENUNCIATED FACTORS IN AGGRAVATION.

A. LACK OF REMORSE

The sentencing phase of Marek's trial was held on June 5, 1984. The transcript of said proceeding indicates the true picture as to which aggravating factors were argued and used by

the State and the trial court. The prosecutor told the jury that they could "consider those aggravating circumstances that [they] find proven out of the following four . . . " (R. 1300).

There is no mention of lack of remorse. Even defense counsel's argument to the jury, wherein he rebutted the applicability of the four enumerated aggravating circumstances, fails to mention remorse. (R. 1310-1313). The aggravating circumstances given to the jury, for their consideration, by the Court were the same four argued and rebutted by the State and Marek respectively. (R. 1322). The trial court's written order clearly states the same four aggravating factors. (R. 1472). That these aggravating factors are provided for by Florida law is clear. \$921.141(5)(b), (d), (f) and (h), Fla. Stat.

Assuming arguendo that the State's comments reflected improper reliance on lack of remorse in aggravation, Marek remains unentitled to relief. It is beyond question that the evidence of the victim's struggle and intense suffering while being strangled and raped and kicked and dying over a 30 second span of such strangulation, proved the "hac" aggravating circumstance, regardless of any lack of remorse consideration.

Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145, 153 (Fla. 1986); Pope, 441 So.2d, supra, at 1078; Phillips, 476 So.2d, supra at 197; see also, Hildwin supra; Tompkins, supra; Turner v. State, 13 F.L.W. 426, 428 (Fla., July 7, 1988). Thus, the trial court's finding of "hac", otherwise supported by the Record, was not fatally tainted by any existing defective considerations, under Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1984), Huff, supra; Phillips, supra.

The trial court's reference to lack of remorse (R. 1351) during sentencing had nothing to do with aggravation. It was strictly a negation of an alleged mitigating factor argued by defense counsel's proffer of the prison guard's testimony.

Finally, the passing reference to [Marek's] lack of remorse at the end of the sentencing order cannot be error because this factor was not considered in determining the aggravating circumstances. Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985).

Koon v. State, 513 So. 2d 1253, 1257 (Fla. 1987). Application of Koon is mandated <u>sub judice</u> in the denial of Marek's 3.850 Motion.

v. Washington 466 U.S. 668 (1984) is appropriate and renders
Marek's claim nugatory. Appellate counsel is not required to
raise frivolous claims on direct appeal; to have objected to the
State's closing argument during the guilt phase of the trial
would have been erroneous as the prosecutor was making proper
comment on the evidence.

It is proper for a prosecutor in closing argument to refer to the evidence as it exists before the jury and to point out that there is an absence of evidence on a certain issue.

White v. State, 377 So.2d 1149, 1150 (Fla. 1979). Further, as to the guilt and penalty phase, Marek fails to demonstrate, or even allege, any prejudice. There was no prejudice to Marek as only statutory aggravating factors were considered. Appellate counsel was not ineffective for not raising the instant issue as there were no valid grounds for objection at trial.

B. ALLEGED COMMENT ON SILENCE

The trial court was correct in ruling that Marek's claim that at the sentencing phase of trial the prosecutor commented on his exercise of his right to remain silent was procedurally barred. It is well established that in order for such an issue to be raised even on direct appeal, there must have been a timely objection or it is deemed waived. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978). Even then it is not fundamental error, but subject to harmless error analysis. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1134-1135 (Fla. 1986); State v. Marshall, 476 So.2d 150, 153 (Fla. 1985). 8 Certainly then, it is clear this issue is not cognizable collaterally.

It is well settled that if a comment which is alleged to be one on silence is, when read in context, a comment on the evidence, there is no error. Harris v. State, 438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983); Hall v. State, 403 So.2d 1321 (Fla. 1981); Wesley v. State, 498 So.2d 1276 (2 DCA Fla. 1986); Kennedy v. State, 490 So.2d 195 (2 DCA Fla. 1986). These authorities are controlling here.

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